IN THE SUPREME OF FLORIDA 15 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

TYRONE FOSTER,

Petitioner,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

5th DCA CASE NO.

earl pel mallicas

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

M.A. LUCAS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0658286 112 Orange Ave., Ste. A DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32114 (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A two count information was filed on June 22, 1988. (R 127) Count 1 charged Petitioner with robbery in violation of Section 812.13(2)(c), Florida Statutes. Count II charged Petitioner with aggravated battery in violation of Section 784.045(1)(a), Florida Statutes. (R 127) Petitioner entered a plea of not guilty to the charges. (R 133)

The case proceeded to trial on October 11, 1988, before the Honorable Raymond T. McNeal, Circuit Court Judge of the Fifth Judicial Circuit in and for Marion County, Florida. (R 1-108) At the close of the state's case and at the close of all the evidence defense counsel moved for judgment of acquittal as to Counts I and II of the information. (R 62) The Court denied the motion for judgment of acquittal. (R 64) After deliberations, the jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged in Counts I and II of the information. (R 101, 165-166)

Petitioner's sentencing guidelines scoresheet total resulted in a recommended range of seven to nine years

incarceration. (R 168) A sentencing hearing was held on October 17, 1988. (R 109-126) The Court adjudicated Petitioner guilty of Counts I and 11. (R 170) Petitioner was sentenced to fifteen years incarceration on Count I with credit for 190 days time served. (R 172) As to Count II and Court imposed a sentence of fifteen years incarceration with credit for 190 days time served to run consecutive to Count I. (R 173) The trial court filed the following written reasons for the departure. (R 174)

- 1. Prior unscored juvenile offense since 1982 burglary of a dwelling, attempted burglary of a dwelling, p.t., p.t., Weems v. State, 469 So.2d 128 (Fla. 1985).
- 1. Escalating pattern of criminal conduct 1982 property to 1985 throwing deadly missiles to robbery/aggravated battery 1988. (R 175)

Defense counsel filed a motion for arrest of judgment regarding Count II and to sentence within the guidelines which the court denied. (R 115, 176)

Notice of appeal was filed on November 10, 1988. (R
182) Petitioner appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeal,
arguing that convictions and sentences for both robbery and
aggravated battery violate the double jeopardy clause of the
federal and state constitutions because the convictions are based
upon the same conduct. On March 6, 1992, his convictions and
sentences were affirmed. Petitioner filed a Motion for
Rehearing/Rehearing En Banc and Request for Certification on
March 23, 1992. However, on April 29, 1992 the motion was
denied.

Notice to Invoke this Honorable Court's Discretionary Jurisdiction was filed in the Fifth District Court of Appeal on May 28, 1992. A Jurisdictional Brief was filed with this Court on June 8, 1992. This Honorable Court accepted jurisdiction on October 10, 1992. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On March 30, 1988, at approximately 5:30 in the evening, David Roper, the victim, stopped at Suwannee Swifty for some gas. (R 14) He pulled up to the pump for gas and realized he had to pay before pumping the gas. (R 15) Raper went into the store and gave the woman three dollars for gas. (R 15) As he headed for his truck, someone hit him from his left side and tackled him to the ground and some other individuals jumped on top of him. (R 15-16) Roper heard someone yelling to grab the wallet. Someone ripped his pants pocket as they grabbed the wallet. (R 16) All of the individuals took off. (R 16)

Roper picked himself up off the ground, went into the store and asked the woman to call the police. (R 18) He was taken to the emergency room and was operated on the next morning. (R 18) Roper testified that his right elbow was shattered and he had to have surgery using pins and wires to put it back together. (R 20) Roper was unable to identify anyone. (R 21)

Roper testified that he had seventeen dollars in cash, credit cards and a driver's license in his wallet at that time.

(R 17) Roper did receive his driver's license and a few of his credit cards that were mailed back to his address. (R 17)

Sabrina Scott and Tawaunza Smith were walking through the parking lot and observed Roper walking out of the **store**.

Appellant and another individual called Spook pushed Roper onto the ground. (R 43, 45) Scott testified that she saw **Spook** reach in and grab the wallet and hand it to Appellant and take off

running. (R 25)

Smith testified that she observed the victim exit the store and Appellant and Spook began hitting Roper. (R 42-43)

However she testified that she saw Appellant take the wallet not Spook. (R 43)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Based on one event, Petitioner was convicted of robbery and aggravated battery. The multiple convictions for the same conduct violates the double jeopardy clause of the Fifth Amendment. Thus, the conviction for aggravated battery must be reversed.

ARGUMENT

THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN UPHOLDING PETITIONER'S CONVICTIONS AND SENTENCES FOR ROBBERY AND AGGRAVATED BATTERY IN VIOLATION OF THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSE OF THE FIFTH AMENDMENT.

In simple terms, the evidence taken in a light most favorable to the verdict shows that Petitioner pushed Mr. Roper to the ground, tore his pants pocket while he pulled the wallet out and fled. This is a classic robbery. The offense of theft is escalated to robbery when force is employed in the taking of the property. In this case, that force was the commission of an aggravated battery. The Petitioner is twice being punished for the same conduct by the separate convictions for robbery and aggravated battery.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal has implicitly recognized that, for separate convictions and sentences to be authorized, the two offenses cannot occur as part of the same temporal episode. See Gilbert v. State 410 So.2d 609 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) (separate convictions and sentences for robbery and aggravated battery proper where robbery victim struck by tire iron after property was taken). This Court has recognized that it is improper to impose separate sentences for two offenses, "In a situation where the acts charged with regard to the 'display' offense in fact constituted the element of 'force, violence, assault, or putting in fear' required to be proved in connection with the robbery offense." Stevens v. State, 372 So.2d 1370 (Fla. 1979). Stevens was decided during an era where a

distinction was made between imposing sentence and adjudicating a defendant guilty for purposes of the Fifth Amendment double jeopardy clause. However, this Court expressly recognized that multiple convictions and sentences for "separate" crimes are improper where the crimes address essentially the same evil."

Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987).

In <u>Sheppard v. State</u>, **549** So.2d 796 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), the defendant appealed his conviction for strong armed robbery and battery as a violation of the double jeopardy clause. The defendant had pushed the victim to the ground and was wrestling or swinging her back and forth in an attempt to remove her purse. The Fifth District Court of Appeal ruled that "the force applied here was one continuous act of force with one purpose in mind " that of relieving the victim of her pocketbook." "The force used to accomplish the taking of the purse, thereby escalating such taking to the level of the robbery, was the same force supporting the battery conviction.

For such reason the judgment and sentence for battery is vacated." at 797.

In Rowe v. State, 574 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), review denied 576 So.2d 290 (Fla. 1991), the defendant was convicted of battery and robbery by a jury. The facts disclosed that a female victim left the supermarket when a person came rushing towards her and grabbed at her purse. As she struggled, she was pushed to the ground suffering a broken elbow and shoulder and a slight concussion. The defendant ran off with the

victim's purse. The court ruled that "the force that was used to take the victim's purse was necessary to constitute the offense of robbery with the same force used to support the battery conviction. In light of those facts and pursuant to Section 775.021(4)(b)(3), Florida Statutes, the statutory element of the lesser offense of battery are subsumed by the greater offense of robbery and Appellant, therefore cannot be convicted of both."

Rowe at 1107. Applying the rationale in Carawan to the facts of the instant case, it is plain that force used to accomplish the taking of the property in this case was the same force that supports the battery conviction. For that reason, it is improper to separately punish the Petitioner twice for the same conduct. Accordingly, the conviction for aggravated battery in this case must be reversed and the sentence vacated.

However, the Fifth District Court of Appeal distinguished Rowe and Sheppard from the instant case based on the fact that the jury returned a verdict of guilty of aggravated battery and not simple battery. It appears that the Fifth District Court of Appeal determined that because aggravated battery is the same degree crime as robbery, it is therefore not a lesser included offense of robbery and does not violate the double jeopardy clause. However, Section 812.13(1), Florida Statutes states that:

¹ Section 775.021(4)(a), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988), which overrode <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987), became effective July 1, 1988. The statute is inapplicable to crimes committed before its effective date. <u>State v. Smith</u>, 547 So.2d 613, 617 (Fla. 1989).

"Robbery" means the taking of money or other property which may be the subject of larceny from the person or custody of another when in the course of the taking there is the use of force, violence, assault, or putting in fear. (emphasis added)

Thus, the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision rested entirely on the measure of the forced use to commit this robbery. However, the robbery statute does not provide any type of limits on the amount of force or violence used in this taking. Petitioner maintains that he cannot be convicted of both aggravated battery and robbery. Therefore, Petitioner's conviction for aggravated battery should be reversed.

CONCLUSION

BASED UPON the foregoing cases, authorities and policies, the Petitioner requests that this Honorable Court reverse Petitioner's conviction for aggravated battery and remand for resentencing.