D &]

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID I WHITE

NOV 2 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By—Chief Deputy Clerk

TYRONE FOSTER,

Petitioner,

٧.

CASE NO. 79,950

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BONNIE JEAN PARRISH
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #768870
210 N. Palmetto Ave.
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

LE OF CONTENTS

<u>P7</u>	AGES :
AUTHORITIES CITED ii, i	iii
STATEMENT OF THE CASE	1
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS	2
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT	3
ARGUMENT	4
POINT ON APPEAL	4

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent accepts petitioner's statement of the case **as** far **as** it goes and adds the following additions to the statement of the case.

Petitioner appealed his judgement and sentence (R 208, 209). On appeal, petitioner claimed that his convictions and sentences for robbery and aggravated battery violated the double jeopardy clause of the federal and state constitutions. Foster v. State, 596 So.2d 1099, 1100 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). The Fifth District found that the relied upon petitioner cases by distinguishable, as those defendants had been convicted of simple battery and robbery. Id., at 1100-1101. The court further found that as both robbery and aggravated battery are second degree felonies one cannot be a lesser included offense of the other. Using Carawan, infra, the Fifth District found Id., at 1101. that a precise statement of legislative intent was nonexistent and that under Blockburger, infra, robbery and aggravated battery each require proof of an element that the other does not. at 1101-1102. The court went on to examine 8775.087, Fla. Stat. (1987), and found that petitioner's conviction and sentence on the robbery count was not enhanced pursuant to §775.087. Id., at 1102-1103. The Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed petitioner's convictions and sentences for both aggravated battery and robbery. Id., at 1103.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondent accepts petitioner's statement of the facts and adds the following additional facts in support of the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

- 1. The jury did not make a specific finding on the verdict form for the robbery count that during the commission of the robbery an aggravated battery occurred (R 165).
- 2. Petitioner's robbery conviction was not enhanced to a first degree felony due to the aggravated battery (R 168).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fifth District Court of Appeal properly determined that petitioner's convictions and sentences for aggravated battery and robbery did not violate the double jeopardy prohibition. determining whether separate convictions and sentences proper, an analysis based on the facts is not to be done. Rather, the analysis is to be made by examining the statutory elements of each offense. If each offense requires proof of a statutory element the other does not, then separate convictions and sentences are proper. Robbery and aggravated battery each require proof of a statutory element that the other does not. Furthermore, aggravated battery is not a lesser included offense Both robbery and aggravated battery are second of robbery. degree felonies carrying the same penalty. Also, aggravated battery and robbery address different evils. Finally, the robbery conviction was not enhanced to a first degree felony due to the commission of the aggravated battery. The decision of the Fifth District was correct and should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

POINT ON APPEAL

THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT PETITIONER'S CONVICTION AND SENTENCED FOR AGGRAVATED BATTERY AND ROBBERY DID NOT VIOLATE THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY PROHIBITION.

Petitioner argues that he was improperly convicted and sentenced for both aggravated battery and robbery. Pursuant to the Fifth District's holding in <u>Foster v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 1099 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), respondent asserts that petitioner's convictions and sentences are proper. There is no double jeopardy violation.

Section 775.021(4), Fla. Stat. (1987), provides:

Whoever, in the course of one criminal transaction or episode, commits separate criminal offenses, upon conviction and adjudication of quilt, shall be sentenced separately for each criminal offense; and the sentencing judge may order sentence to be served concurrently or consecutively. For the purposes of this subsection, offenses separate if each offense requires proof of an element that the other does not, without regard to the accusatory pleading or the proof adduced at trial.

(Emphasis added). In <u>State v. Carpenter</u>, 417 So.2d 986, 988 (Fla. 1982), this court **held** that in determining whether offenses are separate and can be punished separately, <u>Blockburger v. U.S.</u>, 450 **U.S.** 333, 101 S.Ct. 1137, 67 L.Ed.2d 275 (1981), "requires that courts examine the offense to ascertain whether each offense requires proof of a fact the other does not."

If each requires proof of a fact that the other does not, the Blockburger test is satisfied, notwithstanding a substantial overlap in the proof offered to establish the crimes.

Carpenter, at 988. (Emphasis added). Furthermore,

[i]n applying the <u>Blockburger</u> test the courts look only to the statutory elements of each offense and not to the actual evidence to be presented at trial or the facts as alleged in a particular information.

Id. (Emphasis added). It is apparent from 775.021(4) that the Blockburger test has been incorporated into the statute.

Respondent therefore asserts that under §775.012(4) Carpenter, supra, petitioner was properly convicted and sentenced for both robbery and aggravated battery. Each of the offenses requires proof of a statutory element the other does not. Neither proof adduced at trial nor facts alleged in the information are to be considered in determining whether offenses are separate. Carpenter, at 988; §775.021(4). Robbery requires a taking of property and an intent to deprive under §812.13(1), Fla. Stat. (1987). Aggravated battery requires an intentional or knowing touch which great bodily harm, permanent "causes disability or permanent disfigurement under §784.045(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1987). Robbery does not require a touching or great bodily harm and aggravated battery does not require a taking or an intent to deprive. Also, while an aggravated battery and a robbery may occur in conjunction with one another, neither is needed for the other offense to be committed. See Carpenter, at 988. It is thus apparent that when examining the statutory

elements separate convictions and sentences for aggravated battery and robbery are proper, as the Fifth District found. Foster, at 1101-1102; see also Cave v. State, 578 So.2d 766 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)(post Carawan decision; defendant properly convicted of aggravated battery and robbery; each requires proof of an element the other does not),

Furthermore, according to the schedule of lesser included offenses contained in the Florida Standard Jury Instructions for Criminal Cases, aggravated battery is neither a category one nor a category two lesser included offense of robbery. See Florida Standard Jury Instructions for Criminal Cases, p.295. Both robbery and aggravated battery are second degree felonies and carry the same penalty, \$812.13(2)(c), Fla. Stat. (1987); $\S784.045(2)$, Fla. Stat. (1987). As both carry the same penalty, one cannot be deemed a lesser offense of the other. Carpenter, at 987; Ray v. State, 403 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1981); see Florida Standard Jury Instructions for Criminal Cases, "Comment on Schedule of Lesser Included Offenses", p.284; In the Matter of Use by Trial Courts of Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, 431 So.2d 594 (Fla.), modified, 431 So.2d 599 (Fla. 1981). Thus, petitioner's separate convictions and sentences for robbery and aggravated battery are proper. Foster, at 1101; see also

¹ Petitioner states in his brief that "[i]t appears that the Fifth District Court of Appeal determined that because aggravated battery is the same degree crime as robbery, it is therefore not a lesser included offense of robbery and does not violate the double jeopardy clause" (petitioner'sbrief on the merits, p.9). It appears that petitioner believes that the sole basis for the Fifth District's decision was that robbery and aggravated battery are crimes of the same degree. As is apparent on the face of the Fifth District's decision, which petitioner appears to ignore,

McClendon v. State, 372 So.2d 1161 (Fla. 1st DCA
1979)(convictions for aggravated battery and robbery proper).

Respondent further asserts that in applying Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987), 2 to the instant case, the same In Carawan, this court set forth three rules outcome is reached. of statutory construction and stated that courts are never to resort to rules of construction where the legislative intent is plain and unambiguous. Id., at 165. While such a statement is in examining §§784.045(1)(a) nonexistent, and 812.13(1), respondent asserts that the legislative intent of each statute is clear: where both offense are committed separate convictions and sentences are **proper**. There is no need to employ any rule of statutory construction.

this is not the sole basis for the Fifth District's decision. In addition to determining that aggravated battery and robbery are crimes of the same degree and therefore cannot be lesser offenses of each other, the Fifth District also examined the cases upon which petitioner relied, conducted the Carawan analysis and the Blockburger test, and looked to whether petitioner's robbery conviction had been enhanced based upon the aggravated battery. Foster, at 1100-1103. Only after this rather extensive analysis did the Fifth District determine petitioner's separate convictions and sentences for aggravated battery and robbery to be proper.

The instant two offenses occurred on March 30, 1988, prior to the effective date of the amended §775.021(4), thus Carawan is applicable.

³

expressed its intent that **separate** punishments be imposed upon convictions of separate offenses arising out of one criminal episode, the Double Jeopardy Clause is no bar to such imposition. Albernaz v. United States, 450 U.S. 333, 101 S.Ct. 1137, 67 L.Ed.2d 275 (1981).

The second rule set forth in <u>Carawan</u> is that in the absence of any clearly discernible legislative intent, the court begins by using the <u>Blockburger</u> test. <u>Carawan</u>, at **165.** As stated above, the <u>Blockburger</u> test compares the statutory elements of the offenses and if each has an element the other does not then a presumption <u>arises</u> that the offenses are separate.

The third rule set forth in <u>Carawan</u> is the rule of lenity. <u>Carawan</u>, at 165. This court stressed that the only purpose of the rule of lenity is as an aid in determining the intent behind particular penal statutes when the intent is unclear.

This court set forth a three-step analysis for applying the <u>Blockburger</u> test and the rule of lenity. <u>Carawan</u>, at <u>167-168</u>.

Borges v. State, 415 So.2d 1265, 1267 (Fla. 1982). In Albernaz, the petitioners received separate sentences for violations of separate provisions of the Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention & Control Act, 21 U.S.C. § 801 et seq. The Supreme Court held that where Congress delineated separate offenses and separate penalty provisions under the statute, it intended separate sentences to be imposed for separate violations even though only a single criminal transaction occurred. The court also held that such separate sentencing for the separate offenses does not violate the double jeopardy clause. The double jeopardy clause of Florida's constitution was intended to mirror the intentions of the double jeopardy clause of the United States' constitution. Carawan, at 164.

Here, the legislature delineated the separate offenses of aggravated battery and robbery under separate statutes and delineated under each separate statute what degree crime each offense was, thereby establishing the penalty for each offense. The legislature intended separate convictions and sentences for aggravated battery and robbery. Had the legislature intended otherwise, it would have done what it did in 8812.025, Fla. Stat, (1987) (theft and dealing in stolen property; mag charge both, but can only convict on one or the other, not both); allow the charging of both aggravated battery and robbery in one information, but allow the trier of fact to return a guilty verdict on robbery or aggravated battery but not both.

STEP 1: When confronted with a facially ambiguous statute, the court begins by assuming that the legislature does not intend to punish the same offense under two different statutes.

each offense as defined in the statute requires proof of a fact that the other does not, without regard to the accusatory pleadings or proof adduced at trial. (Citations omitted). If they do not, the offenses are presumed to be the same and multiple punishments are improper in the absence of express legislative authorization." Ed., at 167.

STEP 3: ". , . [I]f each offense requires proof of a fact that the other does not, the court <u>must</u> find that the offenses are <u>separate</u>, and multiple punishments are presumed to be authorized in the absence of a contrary legislative intent or any reasonable basis for concluding that a contrary intent existed." <u>Id.</u>, at 168. (Emphasis added).

Applying this process to the facts of the instant case, and assuming a facially ambiguous statute solely for the purpose of argument, **the** analysis indicates, **as** previously stated, that robbery and aggravated battery are separate offense which warrant separate punishments.

STEP 1: Sections 812.13(1) and 784.045(1)(a), Fla, Stat. (1987), are facially ambiguous and the legislature did not intend to punish the same offense under two different statutes.

STEP 2: The elements of robbery are: (1) a taking of property or money from a person by the defendant; (2) force,

violence, assault or putting in fear was used in the course of the taking; (3) the property had some value; and (4) the taking was with the intent to permanently deprive the victim of this property. The elements of aggravated battery are: (1) intentional touching or striking of the victim by the defendant and (2) in committing the battery the defendant caused great bodily harm, permanent disfigurement or permanent disability to the victim.

STEP 3: Aggravated battery and robbery each require proof of an element that the other does not. This court must find that the offenses are separate and that multiple convictions and punishments are presumed authorized.

Assuming solely for the purpose of argument that there is a reasonable basis for concluding that the legislature did not intend multiple punishments for robbery and aggravated battery, this court must find that the applicable statutes address the same evil in order to quash the decision of the Fifth District. In <u>Carawan</u>, at 169, this court found that manslaughter can constitute a separate crime from child abuse. Manslaughter and child abuse each require proof of an element the other does not. Id. Manslaughter and child abuse address separate evils. Id.

Respondent asserts that it is apparent from the statutes for aggravated battery and robbery that they do in fact address separate evils. Aggravated battery and robbery each address two evils. Both address the evil of the use of force and violence. Robbery additionally addresses the evil of the use of assault or putting in fear and the evil of unlawfully taking the property of

another. Aggravated battery additionally addresses the use of force and violence meant to cause great bodily harm, permanent disfigurement, or permanent disability. Foster, at 1103. Furthermore, the legislature deals with each offense in different chapters. Whether the analysis is done under §775.021(4) and Carpenter, supra, ok whether it is done under Carawan, supra, petitioner's separate convictions and sentences for robbery and aggravated battery are proper.

It should be noted that petitioner does not analyze the elements of each offense as required by §775.021(4), Carpenter, Carawan and Blockburger in arguing that separate convictions and sentences for robbery and aggravated battery are improper; rather, petitioner merely argues the facts. As set forth above, §775.021(4), Carpenter, Carawan and Blockburger each specifically require that when determining whether separate convictions and sentences are proper one looks to the statutory elements of each If each requires proof of an element the other does offense. not, irrespective of the proof adduced at trial or the facts alleged in the information, then separate convictions and sentences are proper. A case by case factual determination is not to be made in determining whether a defendant's separate convictions and sentences are proper. §775.021(4), Fla. Stat. (1987); Carpenter, at 988; Blockburger, supra; Carawan, supra. Petitioner has apparently overlooked this.

Furthermore, as the Fifth District stated, 8775.087, Fla. Stat. (1987), was not used to enhance petitioner's robbery conviction. Section 775.087

• • requires the reclassification of a second-degree felony, in which the use of a weapon is not an essential element, to a first-degree felony when the crime is coupled with aggravated battery.

Foster, at 1102. In the instant case, the state did not charge petitioner additionally under or raise §775.087. The jury did not make a specific finding on the verdict form for the robbery count that during the commission of the robbery an aggravated battery occurred (R 165). State v. McKinnon, 540 So.2d 111 (Fla. 1989). Petitioner's robbery conviction was not enhanced to a first degree felony due to the aggravated battery (R 168). Thus, petitioner's separate convictions and sentences for robbery and aggravated battery are not prohibited by double jeopardy and do "not run afoul of [this court's] decision in Carawan, [supra]." McKinnon, at 113.

Finally, the two cases petitioner relies upon most heavily in support of his factual argument, Sheppard v. State, 549 So.2d 796 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), and Rowe v. State, 574 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), are distinguishable from the instant case. In both Sheppard and Rowe, the defendants were convicted and sentenced separately for robbery and simple battery. Simple battery is a category two lesser included offense of robbery. Here, petitioner was separately charged, convicted and sentenced for robbery and aggravated battery. As previously stated, aggravated battery is not a lesser included offense of robbery, nor could it be as both offenses are second degree felonies and carry the same penalty. Thus, Sheppard and Rowe are distinguishable and inapplicable to the instant case.

Petitioner also cites to this court's decision in Stevens v. State, 372 So.2d 1370 (Fla. 1979). In Stevens, the defendant was charged with aggravated robbery and displaying a firearm while committing the robbery. The robbery was aggravated by the carrying of a firearm. This court held "that separate sentences were imposed for these two offenses in a situation where the acts charged with regard to the 'display' offense in fact constituted the element of 'force, violence, assault, or putting in fear' required to be proved in connection with the robbery offense.'' Id. It thus appears that this court held that the offense of displaying a firearm was subsumed in the offense of aggravated Furthermore, displaying a firearm may be a lesser offense of aggravated robbery, as aggravated robbery is a first degree felony punishable by life and displaying a firearm is a second degree felony. §813.13(1) and (2)(a), Fla. Stat. (1975); §790.07(2), Fla. Stat. (1975); Ray, supra; Carpenter, supra.

Petitioner's offense of aggravated battery was not subsumed within the robbery count, as the robbery count was not enhanced. Also, aggravated battery is not a lesser included offense of robbery and robbery is not a lesser included offense of aggravated battery. Respondent asserts that <u>Stevens</u> supports the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

Petitioner's separate convictions and sentences for aggravated battery and robbery are proper. No double jeopardy violation occurred. The decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal should be affirmed in all respects.

C NCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, respondent respectfully requests this honorable court affirm the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in all respects.

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BONNIE JEAN PARRISH

ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

Fla. Bar #768870

210 N. Palmetto Ave.

Suite 447

Daytona Beach, FL 32117

(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT